2001

Mark Tech Corp v. Utah Resources International, Inc : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This appeal was within the appellate jurisdiction of the Utah Supreme Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2 (3)(j). The case was transferred to the Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code. Ann. § 78-2-2 (4) by an order dated May 17, 2001. The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-4 (2)(j).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the Court err in granting summary judgment on Jones and MTC's claims relating to Fife's employment agreement by failing to recognize that the Stock Purchase Agreement was incorporated by reference in the Settlement Agreement, and erroneously concluding that the claim was moot? This issue seeks review of a grant of summary judgment, and is therefore reviewed for correctness, according no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions. *Schurtz v. BMW of North America, Inc.*, 814 P.2d 1108 (Utah 1991). This issue was preserved on appeal in the Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and in Support of Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment on Plaintiffs' First, Second, Third, Fourth, Seventh and Eighth Claims for Relief (hereinafter, "Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Opposition"). (R. 933-37).

2. Did the Court err in finding that Jones and MTC had failed to raise a genuine issue of disputed fact regarding whether URI and Fife had used their best efforts to unwind URI's relationship with Morgan Gas and Oil Morgan Oil claims. This issue seeks review of a grant of summary judgment, and is therefore reviewed for correctness,

according no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions. *Schurtz v. BMW of North America, Inc.*, 814 P.2d 1108 (Utah 1991). This issue was preserved on appeal in the Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Opposition. (R. 937-40).

3. Did the Court err in granting summary judgment on Jones and MTC's claims relating to the purported stock options of Hurd and Brown included in Schedule 2.2 to the Stock Purchase Agreement? This issue seeks review of a grant of summary judgment, and is therefore reviewed for correctness, according no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions. *Schurtz v. BMW of North America, Inc.*, 814 P.2d 1108 (Utah 1991). This issue was preserved on appeal in the Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Opposition. (R. 940-944).

4. Did the Court err in granting summary judgment on Jones and MTC's claims for payment of expenses by finding that Jones and MTC had failed to provide admissible evidence of expenses covered by the Settlement Agreement, and by finding that Jones had failed to raise a genuine issue of fact concerning URI's policy of reimbursing Director expenses. This issue seeks review of a grant of summary judgment, and is therefore reviewed for correctness, according no deference to the trial court's legal conclusions. *Schurtz v. BMW of North America, Inc.*, 814 P.2d 1108 (Utah 1991). This issue was preserved on appeal in the Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Opposition. (R. 944-45).

5. Did the Court err in awarding the Defendants \$162,028.87 of attorneys fees? The determination that Defendants were the prevailing party and entitled to attorneys fees is reviewed for correctness. *First Southwestern Financial Services v.*

Sessions, 875 P.2d 553, 554 (Utah 1994). The trial court's interpretation of the contract provision relating to attorneys fees is also reviewed for correctness. *Murdock v. Monumental Life Insurance Co.*, 2 P.3d 963, 965 (Utah App. 2000). The court's determination of the amount of the award is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Campbell v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co.*, 432 Utah Adv. Rep. 44 (Utah, October 19, 2001). This issue was preserved for appeal in Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Judgment Order Awarding Attorney's Fees and Costs Against Plaintiffs. (R. 1726-31).

DETERMINATIVE LAW

There are no constitutional, statutory, or other provisions of law, the interpretation of which is determinative of the issues presented herein.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Background.

This lawsuit involves the operation and management of the Defendant Utah Resources International, Inc. ("URI") and the conduct of four of its principals, John Fife ("Fife"), David Fife, Lyle D. Hurd, Jr. ("Hurd"), and Gerry Brown ("Brown"). The action was brought by Mark Technologies Corp. ("MTC") and its controlling shareholder, Mark Jones ("Jones"), who own collectively approximately 13 percent of the outstanding shares of URI common stock. The lawsuit arises out of a Settlement Agreement¹

¹The Settlement Agreement was a global settlement of claims asserted by different parties in three different lawsuits, including a case captioned Mark Technologies Corp., et al. v. Utah Resources International, Inc., Civil no. 960903332 CV, which was then pending in the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County, Utah.

executed on or about June 26, 1996, to which Jones, MTC, URI, Hurd, and Fife were all signers. A copy of the Settlement Agreement is included in the addendum as Exhibit "A." As provided by the Settlement Agreement, URI and Fife also entered into the Stock Purchase Agreement, a copy of which is included in the record at page 717-759.

The purpose of this lawsuit was to seek judicial enforcement of several provisions of the Settlement Agreement. Specifically, the Amended Complaint identified four areas in which the Defendants had breached the Agreement: (1) failure to execute a written employment agreement with Fife, as provided in paragraph 1.f.xii of the Settlement Agreement; (2) failure to unwind and/or terminate URI's contractual relationships with Morgan Gas & Oil ("MGO"), as required by paragraph 1.1 of the Agreement; (3) inclusion in a schedule to the Stock Purchase Agreement of stock options purportedly held by Hurd and Brown which were never authorized or granted by URI; and (4) refusal to pay various expenses incurred by MTC and Jones in connection with the Settlement Agreement. The Amended Complaint raised these issues in ten separate claims for relief, the following seven of which are at issue here:²

1. Breach of Settlement Agreement (covenant of good faith and fair dealing) relating to the Fife employment agreement.
2. Breach of Settlement Agreement relating to the unwinding of URI's relationship with MGO.
- 3-4. Breach of Settlement Agreement relating to the purported stock options of Hurd and Brown.

²Jones and MTC do not appeal dismissal of the Sixth, Eighth and Ninth Claims for Relief, and these claims are therefore not addressed herein.

5. Breach of Settlement Agreement relating to payment of clerical expenses incurred in connection with the Settlement Agreement.
7. Declaratory Judgment relating to the purported stock options of Hurd and Brown.
10. Breach of contract for failure to pay expenses incurred by Jones as a Director of URI.

B. Procedural History.³

MTC and Jones filed their Complaint on January 20, 1998. (R. 1). Shortly after the complaint was filed, the Defendants convened a meeting to address how they would respond to the lawsuit. As a result of the meeting, URI entered a written employment contract with Fife on February 27, 1998, a copy of which is included in the appendix as Exhibit “B.” On March 2, 1998, URI then obtained from Hurd and Brown written waivers of any interest they may have claimed in the stock options that were the subject of the lawsuit. (R. 687-88).

URI ultimately responded to the Complaint with a Motion to Dismiss the claims relating to Fife’s employment contract and the purported stock options of Hurd and Brown on the basis that such claims were moot. (R. 55). It filed a separate Motion for Summary Judgment on the remaining claims on March 3, 1998. (R. 164). Fife, David Fife, Hurd and Brown joined in the Motions. (R. 167). The Court made two separate rulings on these Motions. First, at the close of oral argument, the Court ruled from the bench that (1) URI was not required to reimburse Jones for legal fees incurred after the

³The statements contained herein can also be referenced to the entries on the docket which is part of the record on appeal. All references to the record are to the first page of the relevant document.

execution of the Settlement Agreement; (2) Jones would bear the burden of proof on the issue of a URI company policy to reimburse director expenses; and (3) Jones Rule 56 (f) request for additional time to perform discovery would be granted and the Motion for Summary Judgment would be denied. (R. 449-51). Several days later, the trial court issued a Memorandum Decision denying the Motion to dismiss the claims relating to Fife's employment agreement and the stock options, in which it stated as follows:

In this matter, URI failed to initiate its compliance with the terms of the Settlement Agreement until after MTC filed suit, approximately a year and a half after the date of the Agreement. Presumably, it was because of the litigation that URI took the actions to enter into the employment agreement and for defendants Hurd and Brown to waive their URI stock options. These actions clearly constitute unilateral actions by the defendants.

Further, in this matter, plaintiffs have alleged that they have been created (sic) a valid employment agreement and valid waivers of stock options. Whether the purported actions of defendants satisfy these requirements are issues that remain to be resolved.

Finally, even if it is ultimately determined that the actions of the defendants satisfy the requirements of the Settlement Agreement, the issue of plaintiffs' claim for attorneys fees and costs remains in dispute.

(R. 460-61).

On August 17, 1998, the Defendants filed an Answer, which included Counterclaims against MTC and Jones for breach of the Settlement Agreement and for payment of attorneys fees. On the same day, Jones and MTC filed their Amended Complaint and Demand for Jury. (R. 502). The Defendants Answered the Amended Complaint on August 31, 1998. (R. 548).

On January 1, 1999, Defendants filed a new Motion for Summary Judgment on all claims. (R. 561). On June 11, 1999, MTC and Jones responded to that Motion and filed a Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment on their First, Second, Third, Fourth, Seventh and Eighth Claims for Relief. (R. 906, 910). The Motions were heard on November 12, 1999, and the Court entered a Memorandum Decision on January 5, 2000 granting summary judgment and dismissing all of MTC and Jones' claims. (R. 1515, 1516).

On February 17, 2000, the Defendants moved for an order awarding attorneys fees and costs against MTC and Jones. On March 17, 2000, the Defendants moved for voluntary dismissal of count 1 of their Counterclaim. The Motion for voluntary dismissal was granted by a minute entry dated November 17, 2000. (R. 1830). After briefing and argument, the Motion for attorney's fees was granted by a Memorandum Decision dated January 4, 2001.⁴ (R. 1834). A final Judgment Order was entered on February 26, 2001. (R. 1927). MTC and Jones filed their Notice of Appeal on March 1, 2001. (R. 1933).

C. Facts relevant to the issues on appeal.

The following facts are relevant to the issues presented on appeal.

1. Facts relevant to Fife's employment agreement.

Paragraph 1.f.xii of the Settlement Agreement provided as follows:

f. The transactions contemplated in the IMC letter of Intent shall close in accordance with the provisions of that contemplated Stock Purchase Agreement between URI and IMC (the "Stock Purchase Agreement"), the current form of which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference as Exhibit "C",

⁴The Memorandum Decision was authored by Judge Pat Brian, who heard the matter in place of Judge Stirba.

subject to negotiation and execution of the definitive Stock Purchase agreement and approval of its terms by the URI Board of Directors; provided, however, that the definitive Stock Purchase Agreement must contain the following material provisions:

* * *

xii. URI shall hire Fife under a written employment agreement which shall provide reasonable compensation for services rendered, which compensation in any year shall not exceed \$200,000. The payment of compensation in excess of that provided in the employment agreement shall be used to reduce any obligations due or to come due under the Note.

(Addendum Exhibit "A," at 5, 7).

Following execution of the Settlement Agreement, URI did not immediately enter a written employment agreement. Throughout the balance of 1996 and all of 1997, Jones persistently requested that URI and Fife honor the agreement by executing a written employment contract, but no contract was ever proposed or entered. (R. 963-64). In fact, at one Board of Directors meeting in October of 1996, Hurd moved to table consideration of the employment agreement, and the motion was approved over the objection of Jones. (R. 998).

By correspondence dated November 7, 1996, Jones specifically requested that URI and Fife negotiate and execute an employment agreement, and even provided a draft agreement to begin the process. Jones received no response to his correspondence. (R. 963-64). In his deposition, Hurd could recall no discussions between Fife and URI regarding the employment agreement from the time it was tabled in October of 1996 until after the lawsuit was filed in January of 1998. (R. 1017-1018).

On February 28, 1998, the Board of Directors of URI held a Special Meeting for the purpose of considering a response to the lawsuit. (R. 1022). As a part of the Special Meeting, the Board approved a resolution to enter an employment agreement. (R. 1026). URI and Fife then executed an Employment Agreement, the complete text of which is as follows:

Utah Resources International, Inc. ("URI") agrees to employ John M. Fife as its president and chief executive officer on an at-will basis commencing as of July 13, 1996 at an annual salary of \$195,000.00 per year.

(Addendum, Exhibit "B").

Fife admits that the employment agreement is skimpy as to the types of things that would normally be included in such an agreement. (R. 1045). The salary figure of \$195,000.00 was merely "thrown out" by Fife, and the entire agreement was provided to the Directors immediately before the Special Meeting, with only Fife performing some minimal research beforehand regarding salaries of comparable executives. (R. 1038-40, 1040-41). No other member of the Board performed any other research of its own as to the amount of salary that would be reasonable. (R. 1044). Although Fife claims that he negotiated with the Board of Directors, neither he nor Hurd, who was also a director, was aware of any Board member that had been appointed to conduct such a negotiations. (R. 1041-43; 1016-17). Moreover, there were no substantial discussions at the Special Meeting regarding the amount of Fife's salary. (R. 1046).

2. Facts relative to winding up the contractual relationships with MGO.

Paragraph 1.1 of the Settlement Agreement provided as follows:

1. Unless otherwise provided, the following events shall occur at Closing (as defined herein):

* * *

1. The Parties hereto shall exercise their best efforts to account for, pay, compromise, unwind, and/or terminate all existing contractual relationships between URI and Morgan Gas & Oil Co.

(Addendum, Exhibit "A," at 3, 8).

At the time of the Settlement Agreement, URI was involved in various partnerships with MGO and was obligated to MGO on various notes. (R. 923, 1087). From the time of the Settlement Agreement, throughout the balance of 1996 and throughout all of 1997, Jones requested that URI, Fife and Hurd comply with the Settlement Agreement by taking action to wind up the relationship with MGO. (R. 966). In fact, in June of 1997, Jones made a motion in one of the cases settled by the Settlement Agreement requesting the Court to enforce the Settlement Agreement by ordering URI, Fife and Hurd to wind up the relationship with MGO. URI opposed the Motion. (R. 964). Shortly thereafter, Fife told Jones that URI would never pay money to MGO to wind up the relationship unless MGO filed a lawsuit. (R. 1099). By separate letters dated August 21, 1997 and October 10, 1997, Jones requested in writing that URI comply with the Settlement Agreement with regard to MGO. (R. 1099). Jones received no response to his requests. (R. 1099). Throughout the period, URI provided no information to Jones or its other directors on any actions it had taken or was planning to take to wind up the relationship with MGO, and ignored all requests from Jones and MTC for information concerning such actions. (R.

966). As of the time the Complaint was filed, no substantial action had been taken to unwind the relationship with MGO.

At the February 27, 1998 Special Meeting called by the Board of Directors to formulate a response to this lawsuit, Fife made a motion for a resolution authorizing URI's officers to use their best efforts to wind up the contractual relationships with MGO by the end of 1998, which action had never previously been taken. (R. 1026). At his deposition, Fife testified that he believed such a resolution was necessary in order to go forward in winding up the relationship. (R. 1055-57).

On June 25, 1998, the trial court heard argument on URI's first Motion for Summary Judgment relative to the MGO claim, and denied the Motion. (R. 449-51). The following week, Fife and URI began efforts to unwind the relationship. (R. 925). URI and Fife ultimately scheduled a conference call for July 15, 1998, and on July 20, 1998, Fife made a written proposal to MGO. (R. 1108-09). The July 20, 1998 proposal consisted of less than two pages and was the first proposal made by URI since the Settlement Agreement was entered two years earlier. (R. 1061-62).

After brief discussions, Fife made a revised proposal on August 1, 1998, which MGO's president verbally approved. (R. 1110-13). The parties made further revisions to the proposal and drafted a Letter of Intent dated August 21, 1998 which was approved by URI's Board of Directors on September 2, 1998. (R. 926). The process was completed when the parties executed a Partnership Settlement Agreement on December 15, 1998. (R. 597-606).

3. Facts relevant to the purported stock options of Hurd and Brown.

In 1994, URI's Board of Directors approved a Stock Option Plan under which Hurd and Brown, among others, received options on 25,000 shares of URI stock. (R. 1136-37). The parties appear to agree that other than these options granted under this plan, the Company has not granted any additional options. (R. 576; 1253-57).

Pursuant to section 1.f.xiii of the Settlement Agreement, the Stock Purchase Agreement was provided to Jones and MTC prior to its execution. At that time, Schedule 2.2 of the Stock Purchase Agreement was blank, and Jones understood that it would be completed to reflect only the outstanding options granted under the Stock Option Plan. (R. 1100). When the Stock Purchase Agreement was approved by URI's Board of Directors on July 3, 1996, Schedule 2.2 was still blank. (R. 1100). Sometime shortly after July 3, 1996, a completed Schedule 2.2. was appended to the executed agreement which reflected that Hurd and Brown each held options on 50,000 shares of URI stock. (R. 1100).

At a meeting of the Board of Directors dated July 30, 1996, Jones requested a review to determine whether the additional 25,000 options of Hurd and Brown reflected on the Schedule were valid. (R. 1143). Hurd and Brown took the position that the options were valid and were granted to them as part of their employment agreements with URI. (R. 928). Upon review, Fife was unable to find any Board authorization for the options, and Fife agrees that the options could not have been granted without such authorization. (R. 1054). Discovery in the case failed to produce any evidence that the

options had been granted, and the public filings of URI expressly state that there is no long-term incentive compensation plan other than the Stock Option Plan. (R. 929).

Throughout 1997, Jones raised this issue with URI and its Board of Directors, but no action was taken. (R. 930). Shortly after the lawsuit was filed, however, the Board of Directors directed Brown and Hurd to waive their additional options, which they did by a written document dated March 2, 1998. (R. 687-88).

4. Facts relative to Jones and MTC's claims for payment of expenses.

Paragraph 1.h.i. of the Settlement Agreement provides as follows:

1. Unless otherwise provided, the following events shall occur at Closing (as defined herein):

* * *

h. Legal fees and expenses and other costs associated with the pending Litigation and the documents and negotiations to complete and implement the settlement contemplated by this Agreement shall be paid as follows:

(i) All legal fees, costs and out-of-pocket expenses incurred or paid by Jones, IMC, Fife, Erickson, Sheen, Hurd and MTC from January 1, 1996 to Closing shall be reimbursed or paid by URI.

(R. 979-80).

On June 28, 1996, Jones and MTC provided to URI a summary of expenses for which they sought reimbursement. The request included time entries for Patricia Lee and Karen Pliszka, employees of MTC, for time incurred prior to the Closing. (R. 1101).

The total amount sought as reimbursement for the services of Ms. Lee and Ms. Pliszka was \$5,991.00. (R. 1101). Jones later provided written documentation of these expenses,

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