2001

# Mark Tech Corp v. Utah Resources International, Inc : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

It is eminently proper for a court to grant summary judgment where no genuine issue of material fact exists. See, e.g., Massey v. Utah Power & Light, 609 P.2d 937, 938 (Utah 1980). Jones and MTC simply did not meet their burden of raising a genuine



issue of material fact. They raised only immaterial facts complaining that URI did not terminate its partnerships with MGO as fast or in the way that they would have liked. (Br. 10-11). The “best efforts” provision relating to MGO contains no time-table, however, and the parties to the Settlement Agreement knew how to include a provision for speed in using best efforts, had they wanted it. Compare Settlement Agreement, paragraph 1(a) (“The Parties agree that they will use best efforts immediately following the Closing to petition the Court in the First State Action for the purpose of terminating the 1993 Settlement Agreement.”) (emphasis added). Moreover, URI’s results in achieving, in under two years, a termination of the MGO partnerships that had existed for many years demonstrates that “best efforts” were used to “account for, pay, compromise, unwind, and/or terminate all existing contractual relationships between URI and Morgan Gas & Oil Co.” (R. 980, Add. Ex. A). Again, Jones and MTC simply failed to raise a genuine dispute of material fact to the contrary. Compare Foster Wheeler Broome County, Inc. v. County of Broome, 275 A.D.2d 592, 593 (N.Y. App. Ct. 2000) (summary judgment granted on contractual “best efforts” claim where unrebutted evidence was presented of genuine efforts made to assist plaintiff in obtaining permit); EEOC v. R.J. Gallagher Co., 181 F.3d 645, 652 (5th Cir. 1999) (summary judgment granted on “best efforts” claim because genuine efforts were demonstrated; as a matter of law clause did not mean that defendant had to devote twenty-four hours a day, or even every waking hour, to advancing R. J. Gallagher’s interests).

Even if Jones and MTC had succeeded in raising an issue of material fact on the best efforts issue, this Court can nonetheless affirm on any ground supported by the

record. The record supports that Jones and MTC had no standing to challenge the speed with which partnerships were unwound. No injury resulted to them from the methods used by Fife and URI in unwinding the partnerships. Mace, 921 P.2d at 1378 Jenkins v. Swan, 675 P.2d at 1150. Nor can Jones and MTC show that the “best efforts” provision of the Settlement Agreement was even intended for their benefit, as opposed to that of the other signatories to the Agreement who were affiliated with MGO. See, e.g., Settlement Agreement paragraph 1(e) (Sheen & Erickson covenant not to seek election or accept future nominations to serve as officers or directors of URI or MGO). (R. 975, Add. Ex. C). Jones’s and MTC’s complaint regarding the “best efforts” used to unwind the MGO partnerships is nothing more than another attack on the ways and means URI uses in exercising business judgment. Such an attack is unwarranted in the absence of a breach of a duty to all shareholders. See, e.g., C&Y Corp., 896 P.2d at 55; Utah Code Ann. § 16-10a-840. For any or all of these reasons, the district court’s grant of summary judgment on “best efforts” must be affirmed.

**C. Summary Judgment On Claims Three, Four and Seven, All Relating To Purported Stock Options, Was Correct; The Claims Are Uniformly Lacking In Substance.**

The district court rightly rejected all of Jones’s and MTC’s three claims regarding purported stock options. In so doing, the district court recognized that Jones and MTC were suing, without the benefit of a contract granting them a right to sue, to have stock options declared void even though the alleged options had never been given effect. On Claim Three, for breach of paragraph 1(f) of the Settlement Agreement, the district court held that paragraph 1(f) did not refer to or require any action regarding stock options and

no such clause would be read into an integrated contract. (R. 1520, Add. Ex. C). On Claim Four, for breach of paragraph 1(j) of the Settlement Agreement, the district court held that no employment agreements had been effectuated that needed termination, including any employment agreement granting stock options to anyone, and so there was no breach. (R. 1521, Add. Ex. C). On Claim Seven, the district court referred to its ruling on Claim Three and refused to issue a declaratory judgment declaring that the stock options were void. As with all other claims, the district court granted summary judgment on Claims Three, Four and Seven because there were no genuine disputes of material fact. (R. 1517-18, 1525).

**1. Claim Three Fails Because Paragraph 1(f) Of The Settlement Agreement Did Not Refer To Stock Options And So There Was No Breach Of Paragraph 1(f).**

Jones and MTC contend that URI, Fife and Hurd “breached” paragraph 1(f) of the Settlement Agreement because they did not redact purported stock options from Schedule 2.2 of the Stock Purchase Agreement . (R. 508-511). As the district court held, however, Paragraph 1(f) does not even mention stock options, much less require that any options be voided, and so there could be no breach of a non-existent obligation. (R. 1520, Add. Ex. C). The district court, citing Union Bank v. Swenson, 707 P.2d 663, 665 (Utah 1985), also rightly refused to read a clause regarding options into an integrated contract. (Id.).

Just as they argued with respect to Fife’s employment agreement, however, Jones and MTC again contend that their right to sue under the Stock Purchase Agreement derives from the fact that a draft of Schedule 2.2 was attached to the Stock Purchase

Agreement and a draft of the Stock Purchase Agreement was attached to the Settlement Agreement as an exhibit. For all of the reasons exhaustively detailed supra at pp. 12-14 of this brief, Jones and MTC have absolutely no standing to challenge anything in the Stock Purchase Agreement. The Settlement Agreement itself bars them from doing this because it allowed Jones only the opportunity to review the final Stock Purchase Agreement for consistency with the Settlement Agreement's few explicit provisos in paragraph 1(f). (Id.).

**2. Claim Four Fails Because No Employment Agreements Were Given Effect And So Disclaimers Of Any Related Stock Options Were Not Needed.**

Jones and MTC did not fare any better under Claim Four. That claim asserted that Hurd had claimed stock options under an employment agreement with URI that required termination under Settlement Agreement paragraph 1(j). (R. 511). Paragraph 1(j) of the Settlement Agreement does provide that "all employment agreements contemplated, negotiated or executed between URI and . . . Hurd . . . shall not be effectuated, and if effectuated, shall be terminated." Only an effectuated employment agreement could be terminated. As the district court correctly held, however, Jones and MTC failed to controvert the defendants' evidence that no employment agreement, including one granting stock options, had been given effect. (R. 1466; R. 1521, Add. Ex. C). The district court therefore appropriately concluded that "there was nothing to terminate." (Id.). Perhaps recognizing the impossibility of challenging the district court's ruling, Jones and MTC argue that the district court misunderstood their request for relief under

Claim Four. (Br. 25). There was no misunderstanding on the district court's part of what Jones and MTC sought; the court just held that they were not entitled to any relief.

**3. Claim Seven Fails Because No Genuine Issue Of Material Fact Existed To Warrant A Declaratory Judgment Regarding Stock Options.**

Nor did Jones and MTC prevail on Claim Seven. In that claim, which incorporated all previous allegations regarding purported breaches of the Settlement Agreement, (R. 515), Jones and MTC sought a declaration "that the purported stock options are null, void and of no legal force or effect." The district court refused to issue such a declaration. It referenced the reasons it gave for denying Claim Three, where the district court concluded that Jones and MTC had no standing to seek to void stock options under a non-existent clause of the Settlement Agreement. (R. 1520, Add. Ex. C). The district court then stated that no declaration was necessary because Brown and Hurd had voluntarily disclaimed any stock options that may have existed. (R. 687-88; R. 1523, Add. Ex. C). The court never determined whether options had in fact existed that needed to be declared void. It just refused to issue the declaration Jones and MTC requested. (R. 1523, Add. Ex. C). Because stock options and employment contracts are exclusively business agreements between URI and individuals, and because there was no dispute between URI and the individuals which required court intervention, a declaratory judgment remedy was plainly unavailable on the facts to anyone -- and certainly not Jones or MTC.

**4. Jones And MTC Regardless Lacked Standing To Sue On Any Of Their Stock Options Claims Because They Were Not Injured.**

Just as with the previously discussed claims, even if Jones and MTC had been able to allege a viable cause of action regarding stock options, they would lack standing, as individuals, to pursue a claim for damages where they were not personally injured by the conduct they challenge. Because no one ever took any action to enforce or utilize the stock options there was no harm sufficient to allow suit. Mace, 921 P.2d at 1378; Jenkins, 675 P.2d at 1150. Jones and MTC simply complain about URI's business judgment with respect to the manner in which URI and the Board handled the stock option issue. The Board chose to focus on more pressing issues relating to stabilizing the company's financial health, instead of trying to determine what stock options did and did not exist. (R. 1347-48, pp. 83-89; R. 1349, p. 98). This legitimate business judgment cannot be faulted. See, e.g., C&Y Corp., 896 P.2d at 55; Utah Code Ann. § 16-10a-840.

**D. Summary Judgment On Claims Five And Ten Was Proper Because Jones And MTC Failed To Controvert Defendants' Evidence To Establish A Right To Particular Expense Reimbursements.**

As the district court determined when it granted summary judgment, neither of Jones's two claims for expenses allegedly not reimbursed has any merit. Claim Five sought expenses for costs incurred under the Settlement Agreement. The district court correctly held in its July 17, 1998 Order granting partial summary judgment that the Settlement Agreement was clear and unambiguous on its face, and did not allow for reimbursement of legal fees, costs and out-of-pocket expenses incurred or paid by Jones and MTC after July 3, 1996. (R. 449). Jones and MTC do not appeal that Order. In its

decision granting complete summary judgment, the district court further held that URI paid all expenses, costs and fees properly submitted for the relevant period of time and that Jones and MTC proffered no admissible evidence to controvert this fact. (R. 1522, Add. Ex. C). They pointed only to post-closing expenses for which the Agreement did not allow recovery (R. 1467) and to inadmissible evidence such as unauthenticated records to recover for overhead expenses. (R. 1468; R. 1155-88). Indeed, a quick review of the inadmissible records demonstrates that the employees recorded time for such tasks as learning how to use basic word processing programs. Jones's affidavit (R. 1098-1104) contains no statement verifying the legitimacy of the expenses or that the expenses were in fact paid. Rather, the affidavit contains only unsubstantiated accusations and conclusions, contrary to Utah law. See, e.g., Trelogann v. Treloggan, 699 P.2d 747, 748 (Utah 1985) (respondent's affidavit must contain specific evidentiary facts showing a genuine issue for trial). Jones's "evidence" was not sufficient to defeat summary judgment on the issue that Jones had been paid for all properly documented expenses. See A.P. Winter v. Northwest Pipeline Corp., 820 P.2d 916, 918-919 (Utah 1991) (affidavit's conclusions raise no genuine issue of fact).

Under Claim Ten, Jones sought reimbursement for expenses that he allegedly incurred as a URI director. The district court held that Jones failed to controvert URI's evidence, via multiple affidavits, that it compensates directors for attendance at Board meetings and for expenses that receive prior authorization. (R. 592, R. 1473, R. 1524, Add. Ex. C). Nor did Jones controvert that he incurred expenses in the face of URI's written warnings to him that pre-approval was needed. (R. 580; R. 693; R. 695-98).

The district court held in its July 17, 1998 Order that Jones bore the burden of showing a corporate policy different from preapproval (R. 451), given that corporate law recognizes that directors are generally not entitled to reimbursement of expenses without prior approval. See, e.g., Fletcher Cyclopedia of Corporations § 2109 (5th Ed. 1995). The bare contentions in Jones's affidavit failed to present any evidence to controvert URI's or to present a dispute of material fact to this Court.<sup>5</sup> Massey, 609 P.2d at 938 (Utah 1980).

**II. The District Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion By Granting URI's And The Individual Defendants' Petition For Reasonable Attorneys' Fees.**

**A. URI And The Individual Defendants Were The Prevailing Party On All Ten Of Jones's and MTC's Claims.**

The judgment below was completely in favor of URI, John Fife, David Fife, Lyle Hurd and Gerry Brown, on all ten claims. (R. 1525, Add. Ex. C). Defendants therefore were the "prevailing party" on all of these claims and the district court rightly found that they were entitled to recover their reasonable attorneys' fees and costs as described in paragraph 11(j) of the Settlement Agreement. (R. 982, Add. Ex. C; R. 1834-38, Add. Ex. D). See Mountain States Broadcasting Co. v. Neale, 783 P.2d 551, 555 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) ("quite simple" to determine the prevailing party; "if a defendant successfully defends and avoids an adverse judgment, defendant has prevailed").

---

<sup>5</sup>Again, Jones's affidavit, his only evidence, makes inappropriate allegations. For example, he makes claims about other directors' expenses on "information and belief" which violates Utah R. Civ. P. 56. The district court was correct not to rely on such allegations. Walker v. Rocky Mountain Recreation Corp., 508 P.2d 538, 542 (Utah 1973).



Jones and MTC raise a few meritless arguments in opposition to the fee award. First, they claim, for the first time on appeal,<sup>6</sup> that to the extent the district court's judgment on Claim Seven was based on "mootness," they and not Defendants prevailed. To the extent the Court chooses to address this new argument over Defendants' objection, it is noteworthy first of all that Jones and MTC misuse the term "mootness." They use the term in the common sense to refer to a point that "is deprived of practical significance: made abstract or purely academic,"<sup>7</sup> as opposed to the legal meaning of "mootness" which refers to a case or controversy that has been rendered inactive. The district court never made a finding of legal mootness: that a previously active case or controversy had been rendered inactive. If anything, the district court made a finding of a lack of ripeness: that it was not necessary to issue a declaratory judgment because any alleged options had been disclaimed by Hurd and Brown. As this Court stated in Boyle v. National Union Fire Ins. Co., "Ripeness occurs when a conflict over the application of a legal provision [has] sharpened into an actual or imminent clash of legal rights and obligations between the parties thereto. Where there exists no more than a difference of opinion regarding the hypothetical application of [a stock option] to a situation in which the parties might, at some future time, find themselves, the question is unripe for adjudication." 866 P.2d 595, 598 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) (internal citations and quotations

---

<sup>6</sup> Jones and MTC's memorandum in opposition to the fee petition is located at R. 1724-1734.

<sup>7</sup> See Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary (10th Ed. 2000).

omitted). In the case at hand, Hurd and Brown never evidenced any intention to “clash” with the Plaintiffs about enforcing stock options and they even disclaimed any interest in purported stock options to demonstrate their good faith. Jones and MTC just wasted their own time and the resources of the courts by seeking to have options declared void when no one had declared them valid or enforceable in the first instance.<sup>8</sup> Jones and MTC never asserted a ripe claim with respect to stock options. The district court recognized this in refusing to issue a declaratory judgment and granting judgment in the Defendants’ favor instead. (R. 1523, 1525, Add. Ex. C).<sup>9</sup>

Plaintiffs present another new argument for the first time on appeal: that the award included fees for Claims Six, Eight and Nine “which were not based upon the contract.” (Br. 31). If this Court addresses the argument over Defendants’ objection, Jones’s and MTC’s own Amended Complaint itself defeats their point. There, they incorporated every claim after Claim One into every subsequent claim. Moreover, all claims were

---

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